RECEIVED

08-27-2020

CLERK OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2020AP976-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

AVERY B. THOMAS, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal of a Judgment of Conviction and Order Denying Postconviction Relief Entered in the Racine County Circuit Court, the Honorable Wynne P. Laufenberg, Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

JAY PUCEK Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1087882

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water Street - Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 pucekj@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On February 23, 2018 the State charged Avery B. Thomas, Jr. with nine drug crimes, including four charges for delivering heroin, one for delivering cocaine, one for keeping a drug trafficking place, and three charges for possessing a narcotic drug, cocaine, and THC. (1:1-4). The complaint alleged that Mr. Thomas delivered drugs to a police informant on four separate dates in January and February 2018, and when he was arrested for these offenses he was in possession of heroin, cocaine and marijuana. (1:5-6).

Mr. Thomas was arrested and held in custody on those charges on February 21, 2018. (1:5-6; 42:14). On February 23, 2018, Mr. Thomas made his initial appearance on this case and \$10,000 cash bail was

Case 2020AP000976 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-27-2020 Page 5 of 15

ordered and Mr. Thomas was never able to post that bail. (28:4; 42:12-13). At the time, Mr. Thomas was on supervised release from a federal sentence and on February 27, 2018, a warrant was entered for his arrest in that case, in part for Mr. Thomas' illegal conduct in this case. (24:8, 16).

On February 15, 2019, Mr. Thomas pled guilty to five of the charges, including two counts of delivering heroin, one count of delivering cocaine, one count of possessing a narcotic drug, second and subsequent offense, and one count of possessing cocaine, second and subsequent offense. (40:17-18).

Before sentencing, on April 1, 2019, the court modified Mr. Thomas' bail from \$10,000 cash to a \$10,000 signature bond. (15). However, Mr. Thomas was never released from custody because of his federal revocation hold. (41:2; 24:16-17). On May 20, 2019, Mr. Thomas was sentenced in his federal case for violating the terms of his supervised release and he began serving that sentence. (24:8-9, 17-18).

On June 10, 2019, Mr. Thomas was sentenced in this case, the Honorable Wynne P. Laufenberg, presiding. The court ordered Mr. Thomas to serve a total sentence of 14 years prison, bifurcated as 7 years of initial confinement followed by 7 years of extended supervision, to be served concurrent with the sentence in his federal case. (42:26-27). The court awarded 403 days of pre-trial sentence credit for the period between Mr. Thomas' arrest in this case on February 21, 2018 and when it ordered his bail converted to a signature bond on April 1, 2019. (21:3; App. at 103). As to the custody period between April

Case 2020AP000976 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-27-2020 Page 6 of 15

2, 2019 and Mr. Thomas' federal sentencing, the court stated that it was not awarding sentence credit because Mr. Thomas was on a signature bond in this case during that time and it was not the court's concern that federal authorities chose not to release him. (42:27).

On March 13, 2020, Mr. Thomas filed a postconviction motion seeking 50 days of additional sentence credit. (24). The motion first alleged that the period between Mr. Thomas' arrest on February 21, 2018, and when the signature bond was ordered on April 1, 2019, actually represented 405 days, and thus he was entitled to 2 extra days for that period of time. (24:4). The motion also sought sentence credit for the period between April 2, 2019, and May 20, 2019, when Mr. Thomas was sentenced in his federal case, a period of 48 days. (24:4-5).

On April 14, 2020, in a written decision and order, the circuit court granted Mr. Thomas' request for two additional days of sentence credit for the period from February 21, 2018 to April 1, 2019. (25:2; App. at 105). The court denied Mr. Thomas' request for an additional 48 days of credit for the period from April 2, 2019, to May 20, 2019, because he was on a signature bond in this case and was being held only on a federal hold for violations of his federal supervised release. (25:2; App. at 105). The court reasoned that Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(b) only applied to state holds. (25:2; App. at 105).

Mr. Thomas now appeals.

ARGUMENT

I. Mr. Thomas is entitled to 48 additional days of sentence credit for the time that he was in custody on a federal supervised release hold that was based in part on his conduct in this case.

Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(a) requires that a convicted offender "shall be given credit toward the service of his or her sentence for all days spent in custody in connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed." *State v. Beets*, 124 Wis. 2d 372, 376, 369 N.W.2d 382 (1985).

Awarding sentence credit is a matter of equal protection and "is designed to afford fairness so that a person does not serve more time than that to which he or she is sentenced." $State\ v.\ Obriecht,\ 2015\ WI\ 66,$ ¶ 23, 363 Wis. 2d 816, 867 N.W.2d 387. Sentence credit must be awarded if: (1) the defendant was in custody for the period under consideration, and (2) that custody was "in connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed." Id., ¶ 25.

With regard to the first question, a person is "in custody" if they could be charged with escape if they leave the place of detention. *Id.* As to the second question, "[t]o qualify as time spent 'in connection with' the course of conduct giving rise to a sentence, a period of custody must be 'factually connected with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed." *State v. Zahurones*, 2019 WI App 57, ¶ 14, 389 Wis. 2d 69, 934 N.W.2d 905 (internally quoted authority omitted).

Thus, the Wisconsin Supreme Court stated that "[t]he clear intent of sec. 973.155, Stats., is to grant credit for each day in custody regardless of the basis for the confinement as long as it is connected to the offense for which sentence is imposed." State v. Gilbert, 115 Wis. 2d 371, 380, 340 N.W.2d 511 (1983).

Applying Wis. Stat. § 973.155 to a particular set of facts is a question of law that this Court reviews independently. Zahurones, 389 Wis. 2d 69, ¶ 12. However, any factual findings made by the circuit court will be upheld unless clearly erroneous. *Id*.

Here, Mr. Thomas remained in custody from April 2, 2019, to May 20, 2019, on a federal supervised release hold that was in place as a result of his criminal conduct in this case. (24:8, 16-17). This represents a period of 48 days. Mr. Thomas is entitled to these days as sentence credit because he was in actual physical custody during this period and that custody was "factually connected" with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed in this case. That factual connection exists because Mr. Thomas's federal supervised release hold was based in part on his criminal conduct from this case. Therefore, he is entitled to 48 additional days of sentence credit.

The circuit court denied Mr. Thomas sentence credit for these additional days because Mr. Thomas was on a signature bond in this case during that

¹ Once Mr. Thomas was sentenced in his federal case, that action severed the connection between his custody in both cases. Therefore, he is not entitled to any sentence credit after May 20, 2019. See Beets, 124 Wis. 2d 372.

time. This is irrelevant. As the *Gilbert* Court stated, the basis for the confinement does not matter; what matters is that the confinement was connected to the offense for which sentence was imposed. *State v. Hintz*, 2007 WI App 113, ¶ 11, 300 Wis. 2d 583, 731 N.W.2d 646 (holding a defendant is entitled to sentence credit for time in custody on a supervision hold, even when released on bond in the case where credit was granted). As just noted, that connection exists because the federal hold was partly due to Mr. Thomas' conduct from this case.

Additionally, the purpose of sentence credit is to ensure that a defendant does not serve more time than that to which he is sentenced. Here, Mr. Thomas was sentenced to a term of imprisonment in the state prison system, to run concurrent with his sentence in his federal case. Therefore, the time that he was held in custody pre-trial in either case should be credited to both cases.

The circuit court also denied Mr. Thomas' request for the additional 48 days of credit, finding that Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(b) only applies to probation, extended supervision, or parole holds that are imposed under state authority.² (25:2; App. at 105). But paragraph (b) does not *exclude* types of pretrial custody from eligibility for sentence credit. It is expressly a non-exhaustive list of situations where

² Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(b) reads: "The categories in par. (a) and sub. (1m) include custody of the convicted offender which is in whole or in part the result of a probation, extended supervision, or parole hold under s. 302.113(8m), 302.114(8m), 304.06(3), or 973.10(2) placed upon the person for the same course of conduct as that resulting in the new conviction."

Case 2020AP000976 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-27-2020 Page 10 of 15

sentence credit is required "includ[ing]" state supervision holds. Just because the statute expressly authorizes sentence credit under a specific factual scenario that reoccurs frequently, does not mean that an offender in Mr. Thomas' position is not entitled to sentence credit under a different factual scenario. Thus, instead of ending its analysis with Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(b), the circuit court should have looked further to the *Obriecht* test to resolve the issue. As noted above, application of that test leads to the conclusion that Mr. Thomas is entitled to the additional 48 days of credit.

Furthermore, while Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(b) does not expressly list a federal supervision hold, the legal principles codified there should serve as guidance in fairly resolving this credit issue. Sentence credit must be awarded "for time in custody on a State supervision hold if the hold was at least in part due to the conduct resulting in the new conviction." Hintz, ¶ 8 (emphasis added). defendant is entitled to the sentence credit even if they were on a signature bond on the new case and being held only on the extended supervision hold. Id., ¶ 11. Thus, if Mr. Thomas' supervision hold had been imposed under state authority, he would undoubtedly be entitled to the additional credit because it is specifically required by Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(b). Given the similarities of Mr. Thomas' situation to a defendant who is on a state supervision hold, fairness dictates that they should be treated equally. Thus, Mr. Thomas should be awarded the additional credit that he seeks.

Case 2020AP000976 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-27-2020 Page 11 of 15

Regardless, in order to determine if Mr. Thomas is entitled to the credit, the court must look to the *Obriecht* test. As noted, application of that test dictates that Mr. Thomas must be awarded 48 additional days of sentence credit for the period he remained in custody from April 2, 2019 to May 20, 2019.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Thomas respectfully requests that this Court reverse the circuit court's decision denying him credit from April 2, 2019 to May 20, 2019 and order 48 days of additional sentence credit in this case for a total of 453 days of credit.