FILED
12-09-2020
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Case No. 2020AP976-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

AVERY B. THOMAS, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR ADDITIONAL SENTENCE CREDIT ENTERED IN RACINE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE WYNNE P. LAUFENBERG, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JACOB J. WITTWER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041288

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

Is Defendant-Appellant Avery B. Thomas, Jr., entitled to sentence credit for 48 days spent in custody on a federal parole hold while on a signature bond in the present case?

The circuit court answered no.

This Court should answer no.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Neither is requested. The State agrees with Thomas that this appeal may be resolved by application of established legal principles to the facts.

#### INTRODUCTION

Avery Thomas seeks 48 days additional sentence credit for time he spent in custody pursuant to a federal probation hold only. During this time, Thomas was not in custody on the offenses in the present case—a signature bond had been issued, severing the factual connection between Thomas's custody and the present offenses.

In State v. Hintz, 2007 WI App 113, ¶¶ 9–11, 300 Wis. 2d 583, 731 N.W.2d 646, this Court interpreted Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(b) to confer credit for custody on a state supervision hold even when the offender is "free" on a signature bond on the offense for which sentence is imposed. Because Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(b) plainly authorizes credit for custody on only *state* probation, supervision, and parole holds, Thomas is not entitled to credit for his custody on a federal probation hold. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the circuit court's order denying relief and the judgment of conviction.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In February 2018, Avery Thomas was charged with four counts of delivery of three grams or less of heroin near a school, and single counts of delivery of one gram or less of cocaine near a school, maintaining a place of drug trafficking, possession of heroin, possession of cocaine, and possession of THC, all as a repeat offender. (R. 1:1–4.) As alleged in the criminal complaint, Thomas sold drugs to a confidential informant near a school on multiple occasions, and drugs were found in his vehicle as it was parked outside a government office building. (R. 1:5–6.) At the time, Thomas, who was on federal supervision, was inside the building meeting with his (federal) probation agent. (R. 1:5–6.)

Thomas was taken into custody on February 21, 2018. (R. 42:14.) At Thomas's February 23, 2018 initial appearance, the court set a cash bond of \$10,000. (R. 28:4.) Thomas did not post bond and remained in custody. (R. 24:2.)

On February 27, 2018, a warrant was issued for his arrest in his federal case. (R. 24:8, 16; 42:14–15.) The circuit court treated as fact that the federal hold resulted in part from Thomas's crimes in the present case, and the State does not challenge this determination here. (R. 24:8; 42:13, 15.)

Nearly one year later, on February 15, 2019, Thomas entered guilty pleas to two counts of delivery of heroin, and to single counts of delivery of cocaine, possession of heroin as a second and subsequent offense, and possession of cocaine as a second and subsequent offense. (R. 40:17–18.)

On April 1, 2019, while Thomas was awaiting sentencing, the court converted Thomas's cash bond to a signature bond upon a request of the parties. (R. 15:1–2.) But Thomas remained in custody on the federal supervision hold<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Thomas apparently remained in the Kenosha County Jail on the federal hold. (R. 41:2.)

when federal authorities refused to participate in a plan that would have allowed his release. (R. 41:2-3.) On May 20, 2019, Thomas's federal supervision was revoked, and the federal court imposed a sentence of 28 months of imprisonment. (R. 24:8-9, 17-18.)

Thomas was sentenced in the present case in June 2019. (R. 42.) The court imposed a total sentence of seven years of initial confinement and seven years of extended supervision, to be served concurrently with the federal revocation sentence.<sup>2</sup> (R. 42:26–27.)

The sentencing court ordered a total of 403 days of credit for Thomas's custody from his February 21, 2018 arrest to April 1, 2019, the date the court issued the requested signature bond. (R. 21:3, A-App. 103; 42:27.) The court declined to order credit for the period of April 2, 2019, to the May 20, 2019 federal sentencing because, at the time, Thomas was in custody on the federal hold only. (R. 42:27.)

Thomas moved for postconviction relief under Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.30 requesting 50 additional days of credit. (R. 24.) The motion sought: (a) 2 more days of credit for February 21, 2018, to April 1, 2019, because this period is 405 days, not 403 days; and (b) 48 days for the April 2 to May 20, 2019 custody on the federal hold. (R. 24:4-5.)

The court issued a written decision and order granting the motion in part, and denying it in part. (R. 25, A-App. 104.) The court granted the 2 additional days of credit for the period

<sup>2</sup> At sentencing, the Federal Bureau of Prisons (FBP) had vet to calculate Thomas's credit against his federal sentence for his pre-revocation custody (R. 42:27–28), and Thomas does not say how much credit the FBP ultimately ordered. Nonetheless, an award of credit against the federal sentence would not appear to preclude a state court order of credit for the same time because the sentences were ordered to run concurrently. See State v. Boettcher, 144 Wis. 2d 86, 423 N.W.2d 533 (1988).

Case 2020AP000976 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-09-2020 Page 8 of 16

from Thomas's arrest to the issuance of the signature bond, but denied the request of credit for the April and May 2019 period when Thomas was in custody on the federal hold only.

The court observed that Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(b) provides sentence credit for custody on certain probation, parole and supervision holds authorized by Wisconsin statute. (R. 25:1, A-App. 104.) The court concluded that because "this statute does not contemplate sentence credit for a federal supervised release hold," Thomas was not entitled to credit for the period he was in custody on the federal hold only. (R. 25:2, A-App. 105.)

#### **ARGUMENT**

Thomas is not entitled to credit for custody on a federal supervision hold because, at the time, Thomas was free on a signature bond in the present case, and the sentence credit statute provides credit for custody on Wisconsin holds only.

#### A. Standard of review

The application of the sentence credit statute to a particular set of facts presents a question of law this Court reviews independently. *State v. Kontny*, 2020 WI App 30,  $\P$  6, 392 Wis. 2d 311, 943 N.W.2d 923.

# B. Relevant statutory provisions and legal principles

Under Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(a), "[a] convicted offender shall be given credit toward the service of his or her sentence for all days spent in custody in connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed."

The next paragraph of subsection 973.155(1) specifically addresses the availability of sentence credit for probation, supervision, and parole holds. It provides that

"[t]he categories in par. (a) . . . include custody of the convicted offender which is in whole or in part the result of a probation, extended supervision or parole hold under s. 302.113(8m), 302.114(8m), 304.06(3), or 973.10(2)" for the same course of conduct that resulted in the new conviction. Section 973.155(1)(b).<sup>3</sup>

Generally, the issuance of a signature bond severs the factual connection between a defendant's custody and the offense for which the person is sentenced. See State v. Elandis Johnson, 2009 WI 57, ¶¶ 36–38, 318 Wis. 2d 21, 767 N.W.2d 207 (discussing State v. Marcus Johnson, 2007 WI 107, ¶¶ 13, 76, 81, 304 Wis. 2d 318, 735 N.W.2d 505); State v. Beiersdorf,

- 1. While the offender is awaiting trial;
- 2. While the offender is being tried; and
- 3. While the offender is awaiting imposition of sentence after trial.
- (b) The categories in par. (a) and sub. (1m) include custody of the convicted offender which is in whole or in part the result of a probation, extended supervision or parole hold under s. 302.113(8m), 302.114(8m), 304.06(3), or 973.10(2) placed upon the person for the same course of conduct as that resulting in the new conviction.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In full, Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1) provides as follows:

<sup>(</sup>a) A convicted offender shall be given credit toward the service of his or her sentence for all days spent in custody in connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed. As used in this subsection, "actual days spent in custody" includes. without limitation by enumeration, confinement related to an offense for which the offender is ultimately sentenced, or for any other sentence arising out of the same course of conduct. which occurs:

Case 2020AP000976 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-09-2020 Page 10 of 16

208 Wis. 2d 492, 496, 498–99, 561 N.W.2d 749 (Ct. App. 1997). With the posting of a signature bond, the person is "free" on the offense, and credit is generally unavailable against the sentence for time he or she remains in custody on another offense. *Elandis Johnson*, 318 Wis. 2d 21, ¶¶ 5–6, 36–38, 49 (no factual connection between custody and offense for which sentence was imposed where signature bond was posted on offense and the continued custody was for another offense); *Beiersdorf*, 208 Wis. 2d at 497–99 (holding that, where Beiersdorf posted a signature bond on the offense for which sentence was imposed, the time he remained in custody on other charges was not "in connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed").

An exception to this general principle exists for custody resulting from probation, supervision, or parole holds under Wisconsin law. In *State v. Hintz*, 2007 WI App 113, ¶¶ 9–11, 300 Wis. 2d 583, 731 N.W.2d 646, this Court concluded that credit was available for custody on a state supervision hold due in part to conduct resulting in the new conviction, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(b). The court concluded that the language of section 973.155(1)(b) entitled Hintz to credit even though Hintz was actually "free" on a signature bond on the offense for which he was sentenced, and his custody was a result of the supervision hold only. *Hintz*, 300 Wis. 2d 583, ¶ 11.

# C. Thomas is not entitled to the requested credit because Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(b) does not authorize credit for custody on a federal probation hold.

Thomas argues that he is entitled to credit for his April and May 2019 probation hold custody because the hold was due in part to his conduct in the present case, citing *Hintz* and Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(b). But, as developed below, credit is unavailable for this time because Thomas was on a federal

Case 2020AP000976 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-09-2020 Page 11 of 16

probation hold, and *Hintz* and section 973.155(1) authorize credit only for state holds specified in the statute.

#### 1. Principles of statutory interpretation

"Wisconsin's statutes reflect the legislature's policy determination with respect to sentence credit determinations."  $State\ v.\ Friedlander,\ 2019\ WI\ 22,\ \P\ 19,\ 385$  Wis. 2d 633, 923 N.W.2d 849. To determine whether the legislature authorized credit for federal probation holds, the inquiry starts with the text of the sentence credit statute, Wis. Stat.  $\S\ 973.155.\ Id.$ 

"[T]he purpose of statutory interpretation is to determine what the statute means so that it may be given its full, proper, and intended effect." State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cty., 2004 WI 58, ¶ 44, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. If the meaning of the statute is plain, ordinarily the inquiry stops. Id. When reading a statute, language should be given its "common, ordinary, and accepted meaning, except that technical or specially-defined words or phrases are given their technical or special definitional meaning." Id.  $\P$  45.

Context and the structure of the statute are also important to the statute's meaning. Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 46. "Therefore, statutory language is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results. Id.

### 2. Analysis

To repeat, Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(a) provides generally that an offender is entitled to credit for pretrial custody that is "in connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed." Section 973.155(1)(a). But cases applying section 973.155(1)(a) have determined that when, as here, a

Case 2020AP000976 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-09-2020 Page 12 of 16

signature bond is issued, credit is unavailable because the bond severs the factual connection between the custody and offense. *Elandis Johnson*, 318 Wis. 2d 21, ¶¶ 5–6, 36–38, 49; *Beiersdorf*, 208 Wis. 2d at 498–99. However, this Court concluded in *Hintz* that, even when a defendant is "free" on a signature bond in the case for which sentence is imposed, credit is available when, under Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(b), the custody is the result of a probation, supervision, or parole hold that is factually connected to the sentenced conduct. *Hintz*, 300 Wis. 2d 583, ¶ 11.

Because Thomas, like Beiersdorf and Elandis Johnson, was "free" on a signature bond on the offense in this case, the dispositive issue is whether credit is nonetheless available for custody on Thomas's federal probation hold under *Hintz* and section 973.155(1)(b). It is not under the statute's plain language.

Wisconsin Stat. § 973.155(1)(b) does not authorize credit for custody that is the result of *all* probation, supervision, and parole holds issued by any jurisdiction. Instead, it specifically provides that "[t]he categories in par. (a) . . . include custody of the convicted offender which is in whole or in part the result of a probation, extended supervision or parole hold *under s.* 302.113(8m), 302.114(8m), 304.06(3), or 973.10(2)" for the same course of conduct that resulted in the new conviction. Section 973.155(1)(b) (emphasis added). Because section 973.155(1)(b) authorizes credit for holds issued pursuant to Wisconsin law only, credit is unavailable for Thomas's custody on his federal probation hold.

Thomas argues that the list in Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(b) "is expressly . . . non-exhaustive" because it is prefaced by the word "including." (Thomas's Br 6–7.) But while "including," as

used here, appears to be non-exhaustive, <sup>4</sup> its placement in the sentence indicates that what is meant to be non-exhaustive are the general categories of custody—here, custody on holds as but one example of the custody types for which credit is available—not the list of particular holds for which credit is available. *See* section 973.155(1)(b).

Indeed, the absence of a word or phrase like "including" or "such as" or "for example" immediately before or after the statutory list indicates that the list of holds for which custody credit is available is exhaustive. Because the list plainly limits credit to custody on holds under Wisconsin law, credit is not available on Thomas's custody resulting from a federal probation hold only.

Hintz is distinguishable because the hold in that case was among those listed in Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(b). Hintz was entitled to credit on his custody for a supervision hold because the statute plainly authorizes credit for custody on such holds under Wis. Stat. § 302.113(8m). See Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(b). Hintz did not address whether credit is available for custody on a hold not among those listed in the statute.

Finally, Thomas appears to argue that, even if credit is unavailable under Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(b), credit is available under Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(a), because his custody on the federal hold was "in connection with the course of conduct" he was sentenced for. (Thomas's Br. 5–8.) But section 973.155(1)(b) specifically addresses the availability of credit for custody on probation holds, and thus the more general provision in section 973.155(1)(a) should give way to section 973.155(1)(b). See State v. Brandt, 2009 WI App 115,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "[T]he word 'includes' may be construed in two ways: either as an illustration of a few acceptable examples; or, as a statement of limitation setting forth an exclusive list." *Plevin v. Dep't of Transp.*, 2003 WI App 211, ¶ 16, 267 Wis. 2d 281, 671 N.W.2d 355.

Case 2020AP000976 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-09-2020 Page 14 of 16

¶ 5, 321 Wis. 2d 84, 772 N.W.2d 674 ("In cases where two or more statutes relate to the same subject matter, 'the more specific statute controls over the general statute." (citation omitted)). *Hintz* similarly regarded section 973.155(1)(b) as controlling when addressing whether custody on a state supervision hold where Hintz was "free" on a signature bond on the offense in the case.<sup>5</sup>

For these reasons, sentence credit is not available for the 48 days in April and May 2019 in which Thomas was in custody on a federal probation hold only.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Thomas also appears to argue that the following statement in *State v. Obriecht*, 2015 WI 66, ¶ 23, 363 Wis. 2d 816, 867 N.W.2d 387, provides grounds for credit beyond those in Wis. Stat. § 973.155: Sentence credit "is designed to afford fairness so that a person does not serve more time than that to which he or she is sentenced." (Thomas's Br. 6–8.) This is a statement of the statute's policy, not a separate ground on which credit may be claimed. "[P]ublic policy decisions are the province of the legislature" and judicial statements of policy "are not grounds for relief from statutory requirements." *Marine Bank Appleton v. Hietpas, Inc.*, 149 Wis. 2d 587, 592, 439 N.W.2d 604 (Ct. App. 1989) (discussing *Julien v. Model Bldg., Loan & Invest. Co.*, 116 Wis. 79, 92 N.W. 561 (1902)).

Case 2020AP000976 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-09-2020 Page 15 of 16

#### CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the circuit court's order denying relief and the judgment of conviction.